# IDC-RULES FOR GRADING POLISHED DIAMONDS

The International Diamond Council

October 1995

# THE INTERNATIONAL DIAMOND COUNCIL representing:

#### A. THE WORLD FEDERATION OF DIAMOND BOURSES

Antwerpsche Diamantkring C.V. Hoveniersstraat 2 B-2018 Antwerpen 1 Belgium

**Beurs voor Diamanthandel C.V.** Pelikaansstraat 78 B-2018 Antwerpen 1 Belgium

#### Borsa Diamanti d'Italia

Piazza Duomo Via U. Foscolo 1 1-20121 Milano Italia

**Centre Francais des Pierres Precieuses** 14, rue Cadet F-75009 Paris France

Diamant und Edelsteinborse Idar-Oberstein Mainzer Strasse 34 D-55743 Idar-Oberstein Germany

**Diamant-Klub Wien** Spiegelgasse 2 A-1010 Wien Austria **Diamantclub van Antwerpen C.V.** Pelikaanstraat 62 B-2018 Antwerpen 1 Belgium

**The Diamond Club of South Africa** East Tower 27 Ridge Road Parktown 2193 South Africa

Diamond Club West Coast Inc. 660 South Hill Street Suite 1600 Los Angeles, CA 90013 USA

**Diamond Dealers Club Inc.** 580 Fifth Avenue at 47th Street New York, NY 10036 USA

Diamond Exchange of Singapore 95 South Bridge Road #06-15 Pidemco Centre Singapore 0105

**Diamond Trade & Precious Stone** Association of America Inc. 15 West 47th Street New York, NY 10036 USA

#### Hong Kong Diamond Bourse Ltd. 5th Floor Diamond Exchange Bldg. 8-10 Duddell Street

Hong Kong, Central
The Israel Diamond Exchange Ltd.

3, Jabotinsky Street RamatGan 52520 Israel

#### The Israel Precious Stones and Diamonds Exchange Ltd.

Maccabi Building 1 Jabotinsky Street Ramat Gan 52520 Israel

#### Vereniging Beurs voor den Diamanthandel

Hogehilweg 14 NL-1101 CD Amsterdam Z-0 The Netherlands

#### **The London Diamond Club Ltd.** 87 Hatton Garden London EC 1N 8QH United Kingdom

#### The New Israel Club for Commerce in Diamonds Ltd. 48, Bezalel Street Ramat Gan 52520 Israel

**The London Diamond Bourse** 100 Hatton Garden London EC1N 8NX United Kingdom

#### Vrije Diamanthandel N.V.

Pelikaansstraat 62 B-2018 Antwerpen 1 Belgium

#### **B. THE INTERNATIONAL DIAMOND MANUFACTURERS ASSOCIATION**

#### Algemene Juweliers-Vereniging (A.J.V.)

C/O Royal Asscher Diamond Co. P.O. Box 75059 NL-1070 AB Amsterdam The Netherlands

# The Association for the Advancement of Diamond Manufacturing in Israel - Kidum

3, Jabotinsky Street Ramat Gan 52520 Israel

#### The Bombay Diamond Merchants' Association 22/23 Panchratna

Opera House Bombay 400 004 India

#### Bundesverband der Edelstein- und Diamant-Industrie E.V. Mainzer Strasse 34 D-55743 Idar-Oberstein Germany

#### Chambre Syndicale Nationale du Diamant

14, rue Cadet F-75009 Paris France

#### Diamond Manufacturers & Importers Association of America Inc. 521 Fifth Avenue Suite 1700 New York, NY 10017 USA

#### Israel's General Diamond Manufacturers Association Ltd. 1, Jabotinsky Street Ramat Gan 52520 Israel

# The Master Diamond Cutters' Association of South Africa

106 Diamond Exchange Building 85, de Villier Street Johannesburg 2001 South Africa

#### Syndikaat der Belgische Diamantnijverheid (SBD) Hoveniersstraat 22

B-2018 Antwerpen 1 Belgium

#### The Thai Diamond Manufacturers Association

87/ 139-140 Modern Town Bldg Sol Ekamal 3, Sukhumvit 63 Road Klongton Klongtoey Bangkok 10110 Thailand

#### Vereniging van Kempische Diamant-

werkgevers Gierlebaan 15 B-2275 Lille Belgium

#### Introduction to the 1979 edition

At the International Congress of the World Federation of Diamond Bourses and the International Diamond Manufacturers Association, held in Amsterdam in May '75, a joint committee, recently renamed the International Diamond Council, was appointed with a mandate to establish unity in the normalization of the grading of polished diamonds.

The International Diamond Council decided to start from the following principles:

- A set of internationally recognized standards should be developed, applicable in the same way all over the world.
- Working methods for applying these standards should be normalized too. This is necessary in order to arrive at uniform certificates.
- Internationally recognized institutes, which will apply the accepted standards and methods, have to be set up.

As a result of several meetings and discussions of the International Diamond Council in 1975, 1976 and 1977, a first document on the standards as well as on the working methods was drafted in July '77, namely the "Proposal for Normalizing the Description of Diamonds".

In March of the same year, an international series of colour masterstones and corresponding denominations were accepted in agreement with the CIBJO.

In May '78 the basic principles of the standards, called the "International Rules for Grading Polished Diamonds", were proposed for ratification at the 19th Congress of the World Federation of Diamond Bourses and the International Diamond Manufacturers Association in Israel. They were unanimously approved.

The present document is a completed version of the rules, with amendments based on the remarks and suggestions of the several organizations. All rules approved at the World Congress in Israel are marked "IR May '78" (international rule May '78).

Note: In the 1995 edition the markings "IR May 78' have been deleted, since they were of historical interest only.

## CONTENTS:

I. DIAMOND GRADING	7
1.1. Definition and use of the denomination "diamond"	7
1.2. Treatments : definition and grading	7
1.3. Laser drilling	7
1.4. Diamond grading reports	8
1.4.1. Contents of a Diamond Grading Report	8
1.4.2. Conditions regarding the state in which diamonds must be presented for grading	8
II. CLARITY	9
2.1. Determination of Clarity Grades	9
2.2. Relevant Internal and External characteristics	9
2.2.1. Internal characteristics	9
2.2.2. External characteristics	9
2.3. Clarity Grading Scale	10
2.3.1. Definition of "loupe-clean"	10
2.3.2 Grading of internal characteristics	11
2.3.3 Grading of external characteristics	12
2.3.4 Grading of structure phenomena	13
	10
III. COLOUR	15
3.1. Determination of colour grades	15
3.1.1. Colourless to light yellow diamonds (or equivalent)	15
3.1.2. Colour diamonds	18
3.2. Fluorescence	18
3.2.1. Determination of fluorescence	18
3.2.2. Grading of fluorescence	18
	10
1V. CUT	19
4.1. Cut: definition and description	19
4.1.1. Definition of Cut	19
4.1.2. Description of Cut	19
4.2. Proportions	19
4.2.1. Determination of proportions	19
4.2.2. Basic parameters of the cut	21
4.2.3. Grading of proportions	22
4.2.4. Girdie Thickness	23
4.2.5. Description of the culet	23
	24
4.3.1. Determination of Finish	24
4.3.2. Finish Grades	24
V. WEIGHT, DIAMOND SHAPES	25
5.1. Weight	25
5.2. Diamond shapes	25
5.2.1. Common shapes	25
5.2.2. Measurements	26
Addendum to Rule 2.3.4	27

# I. DIAMOND GRADING

## 1.1. Definition and use of the denomination "diamond"

A diamond is a natural mineral of crystallized carbon in cubic structure.

The denomination "diamond" may only be used as such when a natural diamond is referred to.

The denomination "diamond" should not be used as such to indicate items consisting of diamond, such as doublets.

## **1.2.** Treatments: definition and grading

All diamonds which have been subjected to treatment, other than cutting, polishing, laser drilling and cleaning, intended to change the diamond's appearance, such as filling, coating, irradiation or any other physical or chemical treatment, must be disclosed as "treated diamond".

"Treated diamonds" cannot be graded.

## 1.3. Laser drilling

Diamonds subjected to laser drilling can be graded as such but must always be characterized as "laser drilled".

# 1.4. Diamond grading reports

A usual grading report of a diamond includes mention of the four main characteristics, namely the weight, the clarity grade, the colour grade and the cut.

#### 1.4.1. Contents of a Diamond Grading Report

A complete grading report of a diamond, as it should appear on a certificate, includes the following data:

- the statement that the diamond has been identified as a natural diamond
- reference number
- weight
- shape and measurements
- clarity grade
- colour and fluorescence grade
- cut: proportions and finish-grade
- comments and identification marks, if applicable
- plot
- place of issue
- date of issue
- reference to IDC

# 1.4.2. Conditions regarding the state in which diamonds must be presented for grading

Diamonds must be presented for grading unmounted and free of any obstacles including dirt.

# **II. CLARITY**

## 2.1. Determination of Clarity Grades

The clarity grades are obtained by establishing the relevant internal and external characteristics.

# 2.2. Relevant Internal and External characteristics

### 2.2.1. Internal characteristics

As a definition all characteristics, which are internally or partly internally perceptible, belong to the internal characteristics.

To be more precise, they are:

- the inclusions:
- e.g. crystalline inclusions, carbon inclusions, pinpoints, clouds,
- fractures
- cleavages (feathers, bearding, fissures)
- some kinds of structure phenomena (ref. 2.3.4.2.)
- poor transparency of the diamond
- remaining parts of the rough diamond: indented naturals, nicks
- laser drill holes

#### 2.2.2. External characteristics

The following belong to the external characteristics:

- externally located faults caused during polishing, such as polishing lines, rough edges, burn marks and slightly bearded girdle
- externally located damages, such as scratches, abraded culet and pointshaped damages
- some kinds of structure phenomena (ref. 2.3.4.2.)

# 2.3. Clarity Grading Scale

The subdivision and denominations of the clarity grades are as follows:

#### 2.3.1. Definition of "loupe-clean"

No diamond can be referred to as being really clean. In all diamonds inclusions will occur. They belong to the essential character of the precious stone. Therefore, the first clarity grade does not refer to diamonds being absolutely clean, but to diamonds being "loupe-clean", i.e. clean in so far as the diamonds are examined under a magnification of a loupe 10X. In particular, the definition generally accepted in the diamond business assumes that:

A diamond is called "loupe-clean" if, after an examination by an experienced grader with a loupe 10X (corrected for spherical and chromatic aberration), it has been found free of internal characteristics.

It is recommended that the characteristics of the artificial light source used, approximate the C.I.E.-standard illuminant D65 (C.I.E. = Commission Internationale de l'Eclairage / International Commission on Illumination).

The recommended method is to make a direct comparison, using a loupe 10X, with a reference diamond, accepted by the IDC, containing an inclusion marking the limit of the loupe-clean-grade. In any case, whatever means of examination are used; the final decision must be made with a loupe 10X.

## 2.3.2. Grading of internal characteristics

The **internal characteristics** are graded as described in the following definitions, which are valid for use by an experienced grader.

loupe-clean	ref. 2.3.1.	
VVS : VVS1 VVS2	Very very small internal characteristic(s), which can be found from very hardly to hardly with a loupe 10x. The size, position, number and brightness of the internal characteristics determine the distinction between vvs1 and vvs2.	
VS : VS1 VS2	Very small internal characteristic(s), which can be found from fairly hardly to easily with a loupe 10x. The size, position, number and brightness of the internal characteristics determine the distinction between vs1 and vs2.	
SI : SI1 SI2	Small internal characteristic(s), very easy to find with a loupe 10x. The size, position, number and brightness of the internal characteristics determine the distinction between si1 and si2.	
P1 or I1	Pique 1 or Included 1 Internal characteristic(s), which can hardly be found with the naked eye through the crown side of the diamond.	
P2or I2	Pique 2 or Included 2 Large and/or frequent internal characteristic(s), easily visible to the naked eye through the crown side and which reduce(s) the brilliancy of the diamond slightly.	
P3 or 13	Pique 3 or Included 3 Very large and/or frequent internal characteristic(s), very easy to be seen with the naked eye through the crown side and which reduce(s) the brilliancy of the diamond.	

## 2.3.3. Grading of external characteristics

External characteristics are graded as described in the following definitions, which are valid for use by an experienced grader.

type of external characteristics	grading of the external characteristics	
polishing faults or damages	for diamonds without internal characteristics: the clarity grade becomes loupe-clean and the external characteristics are mentioned as :	for diamonds with internal characteristics: the external characteristics may influence the clarity grading
not to find or very hard to find with a loupe 10X	not to be mentioned	no influence
fairly hard to find with a loupe 10X	mentioned as: negligible external characteristics	no influence
easy to find with a loupe 10X	mentioned as: external characteristics	may influence the clarity grading
very easy to find with a loupe 10X	separate description under "Comments " (example: important burning marks on crown side)	may influence the clarity grading

Major external characteristics, visible from the crown side, may influence the clarity grading.

When a diamond does not have any internal, but only external characteristics, it is referred to as being "loupe-clean" and a mention is made about the external characteristics. In case of diamonds with internal characteristics, the external characteristics can diminish the clarity grade.

#### 2.3.4. Grading of structure phenomena

#### 2.3.4.1.

The growth lines, the graining effects and the different forms of "knots", such as the twinning seams, knot lines and knot planes, are considered as "structure phenomena". The meaning of these terms is explained in the addendum "Types of structure phenomena in diamonds".

#### 2.3.4.2.

The different kinds of structure phenomena can be divided into the following groups:

A. Structure phenomena that are only externally visible (e.g. surface grain lines, twinning lines, knot lines).

B. Structure phenomena that are internally visible, but are not causing any colour effects or white reflections (e.g. growth lines and some kinds of graining)

C. Structure phenomena that are internally visible and are causing colour effect or white reflections (e.g. brownish coloured zones, reflective grain planes and some kinds of graining).

visibility of the structure phenomena	diamonds without internal characteristics	diamonds with internal characteristics
not to find or very hard to find with a loupe 10X	- clarity grade : "loupe-clean" - no remarks	no influence on the grading of the internal characteristics
hard to find with a loupe 10X	- clarity grade : "loupe-clean" - description under "Identification Marks" - minor surface grain lines - minor graining	no influence on the grading of the internal characteristics
fairly easy to find with a loupe 10X	- clarity grade : "Ioupe-clean" - description under "Comments" - surface grain lines - graining	no influence on the grading of the internal characteristics
easy to find with a loupe 10X	the structure phenomena influence the clarity grading	the structure phenomena may influence the clarity grading

The rules for grading the structure phenomena of groups A and B are as follows:

The rules for grading the structure phenomena of group C are as follows:

visibility of the structure phenomena	diamonds without internal characteristics	diamonds with internal characteristics
not to find with a loupe 10X	- clarity grade : "loupe-clean" - no remarks	no influence on the grading of the internal characteristics
very hard to find with a loupe 10X	- clarity grade : "loupe-clean" - description under "Identification Marks" - minor graining	no influence on the grading of the internal characteristics
hard to find with a loupe 10X	- clarity grade : "loupe-clean" - description under "Comments" - graining	no influence on the grading of the internal characteristics
fairly easy to find with a loupe 10X	the structure phenomena influence the clarity grading	the structure phenomena may in- fluence the clarity grading

# **III. COLOUR**

# 3.1. Determination of colour grades

The diamond colours can be divided in two main groups:

- colourless to light yellow diamonds (or equivalent) diamonds with a yellow hue, possibly with a faint brownish, grayish or greenish deviation
- colour diamonds all diamonds darker than light yellow (or equivalent) and all diamonds with another colour hue

#### 3.1.1. Colourless to light yellow diamonds (or equivalent)

#### 3.1.1.1

These colours are subdivided into 8 colour grades, called the "International Colour Grading Scale" (see colour comparison table 3.1.1.2.).

International Col	our Grading Scale		
exceptional white +	blanc exceptionnel +	hochfeines Weiss +	D
exceptional white	blanc exceptionnel	hochfeines Weiss	E
rare white +	blanc extra +	feines Weiss +	F
rare white	blanc extra	feines Weiss	G
white	blanc	Weiss	Н
slightly tinted white	blanc nuancé	leicht getöntes Weiss	I-J
tinted white	légèrement teinté	getöntes Weiss	K-L
tinted colour	couleur teintée	getönt	M-Z

## 3.1.1.3.

The colours must be determined by comparison with masterstones. Measuring instruments can only provide indicative values.

#### 3.1.1.4.

The colour grades are fixed by a series of masterstones, which, as a definition, fix the lower limit of each colour grade. An international reference-series has been composed by representatives of the WFDB, the IDMA and CIBJO.

#### 3.1.1.5.

A series of valid masterstones must be selected by direct comparison with the international reference series.

The masterstones must comply with the following requirements:

- brilliant-shapes only
- weight: larger than 0.70 ct
- proportions: table diameter:

crown height: girdle thickness: pavilion depth: 60 to 66% 11 to 14% smaller than 3% 42 to 45%

- clarity: si2 or better, free of colored or black inclusions and structure phenomena causing colour effects
- bruted girdles only
- fluorescence nil or slight
- colour: yellow hues only

#### **3.1.1.6**.

The colour comparison with masterstones is performed under normalized artificial light, equivalent to northern daylight.

The masterstones and the diamond to be graded are placed on a V-shaped white support (e.g. a folded white paper) and observed from a direction, perpendicular to the pavilion facets.

## 3.1.1.7.

The comparison with the masterstones is made as follows: if no difference in colour is observed between the diamond to be graded and a specific reference-diamond, then the colour of the latter is conclusive.

If the colour of the diamond to be graded lies between those of two referencediamonds, then the colour of the darkest one is conclusive.

#### 3.1.1.8.

Diamonds of equivalent colour are compared with the same masterstones and in the same manner as diamonds with light-yellow colour.

In case of a clearly visible distinction, this has to be mentioned together with the colour grade.

### 3.1.2. Colour diamonds

### 3.1.2.1.

The colour determination is performed by comparison with colour standards.

## 3.1.2.2.

The following characteristics are described:

- colour hue

- colour saturation and lightness
- colour origin

#### 3.1.2.3.

Depending on the above mentioned characteristics of the colour, the term "fancy" may precede the colour description.

## 3.2. Fluorescence

#### 3.2.1. Determination of fluorescence

In the same way as for the colour grades, the fluorescence grade is assessed by comparison to fluorescence-reference-diamonds. This is done under a lighting of UV-rays, wavelength 366 nm.

#### 3.2.2. Grading of fluorescence

The fluorescence grades are:

nil - slight - medium - strong

The colour of the fluorescence is not mentioned on a certificate.

# IV. CUT

# 4.1. Cut: definition and description

### 4.1.1. Definition of "Cut"

"Cut" refers to the overall description of the **proportions** on the one hand and the **finish** of the diamond on the other hand. The proportions are determinative for the brilliancy and the fire of the diamond, while the finish represents the extent to which deviations occur from the symmetry and other characteristics of the cut.

#### 4.1.2. Description of "Cut"

The description of the cut on a certificate must be split into a separate description of the proportions and of the finish.

## 4.2. Proportions

#### 4.2.1. Determination of proportions

For a diamond to show an optimal combination of brilliancy and fire, it has to be polished with due attention to the angles of inclination and proportional relations between the various parts of the stone. If the angles and proportions are not optimal, this can lead to the appearance of one or more specific effects in the stone, which are detrimental to its beauty. When grading the proportions of a polished diamond, the main issue is therefore to evaluate if, and if so to what extent, these effects occur.

The most important effects that can be perceived when observing the stone perpendicular to the table are:

fish eye:	the reflection of the girdle is visible through the table
black table reflection:	the reflection of the table is so large that the table appears to be almost completely black
culet visible in bezels:	the stone shows an abnormal amount of scintillation, due to the culet and the surrounding facets being visible through the bezels
window:	the light falls through the stone and leaves it at the bottom without any reflection
single cut:	the diamond looks as if it has less facets than it actually has, because the difference in the angle of inclination between the facets is too small (no sharp edges)

The list of effects above is not exhaustive; there are other proportions-related phenomena which are considered to be undesirable, for instance the diameter being too small in proportion to the total depth, making the stone appear smaller than its actual weight.

### 4.2.2. Basic parameters of the cut

The basic parameters that can characterize the cut are for the brilliant-shape:

- \* the crown angle ( $\beta$ )
- \* the pavilion angle ( $\alpha$ )
- \* the proportion of the crown height to the diameter of the brilliant-shape (% h<sub>c</sub>)
- \* the proportion of the pavilion depth to the diameter of the brilliant-shape (%  $h_p$ ]
- \* the proportion of the table width to the diameter of the brilliant-shape ( $\%\theta_t$ )
- \* the proportion of the total depth to the diameter of the brilliant shape  $(\% t_d)$
- \* the girdle thickness
- \* the culet size

For the other shapes, basically the same parameters are involved, but then compared to the width of the diamond.



### 4.2.3. Grading of proportions

For the brilliant-shapes, next to the actual values an appreciation can be given. The denominations are:

#### very good - good - unusual (medium to poor)

The measurements of the different parts of the stone can be a useful aid in determining the proportions grade, since there exists an obvious relation between these data and the appearance of the visual effects discussed in 4.2.1.

Criteria	unusual	good	very good	good	unusual
crown angle (β) pavilion angle (a)	up to 26.9° up to 38.4°	27.0° to 30.6° 38.5° to 39.5°	30.7° to 37.7° 39.6° to 42.2°	37,8° to 40.6° 42,3° to 43.1°	40.7° and up 43.2° and up
table width (% $\theta_t$ )	71 and up	70 to 67	66 to 53	52 to 51	50 and down
crown height (% h <sub>c</sub> )	up to 8.5	9 to 10.5	11 to 16	16.5 to 18	18.5 and up
girdle thickness (%)	0 to 0.5 %	1 to 1.5%	2 to 4.5%	5 to 7.5%	8% and up
pavilion depth (% h <sub>p</sub> ) (for pointed culet)	up to 39.5	40 to 41	41.5 to 45	45.5 to 46.5	47 and up
culet size (%)	_	_	pointed to 1.9%	2% to 3.9%	4% and up
total depth (% t <sub>d</sub> )	up to 52.9	53.0 to 55.4	55.5 to 63.9	64.0 to 66.9	67.0 and up

If the readings for a stone are situated in different categories, the lowest grade is considered to be the overall reading. In addition to the proportional measurements mentioned above, there are others which can have a negative influence on the final grade if they are not within certain limits, such as for example the height of the halves on the crown and on the pavilion.

## 4.2.4. Girdle Thickness

The girdle thickness is described in the following terms:

#### extremely thin - very thin - thin - medium - thick - very thick - extremely thick

The nature of the girdle can be described in the following terms:

## faceted - polished - bruted

Description	thickness in %
extremely thick	8% and up
very thick	6.5 - 7.5 %
thick	5 - 6 %
medium (slightly thick)	3 - 4.5 %
thin	2-2.5 %
very thin	1-1.5 %
extremely thin	0-0.5 %

### 4.2.5. Description of the culet

The culet is described in the following terms: pointed - linear - polished - natural

The culet is called "pointed" when the culet diameter is  $\leq 0.032$  mm. When the culet is described as "polished" or "natural", an additional description of the culet size can be given, expressed by means of the terms "small" -"medium"-"large", and/or by noting the proportional size of the culet as compared to the diameter of the diamond.

Description	thickness
pointed	$\leq$ 0.032 mm
small	0.033 mm to 1.9 %
medium	2.0 % to 3.9 %
large	≥4%

# 4.3. Finish

## 4.3.1. Determination of Finish

When determining the finish grade, the symmetry-characteristics of the shape and the distribution of facets are taken into account, as well as extra facets and naturals.

The four main symmetry-deviations are:

- variation on the average diameter (for brilliant-shapes)
- variation on the average crown height
- deviation from the central position of the table
- deviation from the central position of the culet

#### 4.3.2. Finish Grades

The Finish grades are:

#### very good - good - medium - poor

# V. WEIGHT, DIAMOND SHAPES

# 5.1. Weight

The weight of a diamond is always expressed in carats (ct), up to two decimals at least.

Is the weight expressed up to two decimals only, then it is rounded off downwards, as long as the third decimal is smaller than 9. When the third decimal is 9, the weight is rounded off upwards.

# 5.2. Diamond shapes

### 5.2.1. Common shapes

- brilliant shape
- marquise-shape
- pear-shape
- heart-shape
- oval-shape
- emerald cut

These denominations are valid for the shapes, presented here in both top and bottom view.



In case of deviations of these shapes or when similar shapes have an uncommon number of facets, they are given the additional mention "variation".

#### 5.2.2. Measurements

The three measurements of the shapes refer to the minimum diameter, the maximum diameter and the height (brilliant-shapes) or the length, width and height (other shapes).

#### Addendum to Rule 2.3.4.

#### Types of structure phenomena in diamonds

Speaking in terms of crystallography, the structure phenomena of diamonds can be divided into two groups:

#### a) structure phenomena in mono-crystals

Mono-crystals are, per definition, crystals having a crystal structure in one piece. This means that a mono-crystal is, in each of its points, oriented in the same way. In the case of a diamond, this has the effect that no change of grain direction occurs in a mono-crystal. Sawable goods are very typical examples of mono-crystals.

Generally speaking, mono-crystals can contain different kinds of structure phenomena. In diamonds, there are two typical phenomena which are encountered regularly. First, there are the so-called growth lines. These are fine-shaped zones in diamonds, difficult to find and generally seen in directions between 90° angles.

A second kind of structure phenomena in diamond mono-crystals is a grain disturbance, occurring in planes and mostly identifiable by externally visible (parallel) lines, usually over several facets of the polished diamond. These lines are called surface grain lines. The internally located planes may cause either colour effects (brownish colored zones) or white light reflections (reflective grain planes).

#### b) poly-crystals and their structure phenomena

A diamond can crystallize in such a way that the rough diamond is composed of two or more parts, the crystal structures of which are differently oriented. The transition between these various parts are called seams ("knots").

When such diamonds are polished, the seams are usually still identifiable in the form of internally visible seam planes and/or externally visible seam lines (knot lines).

A special form of poly-crystals are the twinning crystals, called "macles" in the trade. Macles are diamonds composed of two parts in whose respective crystal orientation there is a consistent correspondence. For the one part it is the reflected image of the other, the reflecting plane being located in a cleaving direction of the diamond. In the same way for the other poly-crystals the transition between both parts of the made is visible in the polished diamond as a plane, called twinning plane and/or as a line crossing the whole diamond, called twinning line.